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      Author’s note

      
      

      
      In telling this story I have relied significantly on the dramatic techniques of television—many conversations and events have
         been reconstructed. I have certainly not written a conventional biography or a formal history of events. But it is based on
         research into the era and the man, and on what is on the record.
      

      
      I am indebted to a great many people in the writing of this book; in particular Ralph Barker, who co-wrote Sidney’s book,
         Aviator Extraordinary, and who gave me permission to use extracts from it; to Sally-Anne and Charles Cotton who, although they were only young when
         he died have vivid memories of this extraordinary man and who gave me access to his letters and photographs; to Joan Hopkinson
         who, after she gave me an interview, passed away in her 94th year; to Jill Cotton in Calgary; to Pat Martin in Hawaii; to Joan Astley; Gill Drake, Rhoda Fraser; Sadika Tancred, Brian
         Brooke-Smith, Jack Eggleston; Leslie Axon and the late Desmond Sheen in England.
      

      
      

      
      For the background to the operations in France I have to thank Edward Leaf and his excellent book Above Us Unseen; and to the staff at the Australian War Memorial for access to Sidney’s papers; and to the Public Record Office in London;
         to Omar Khalidi for background information on Hyderabad; Heiderose Leopold in Berlin who made it easier for me to visit the
         Karinhalle, Hermann Goering’s country house, or what is left of it, despite obstacles placed in my way by the authorities;
         to Group Captain Stephen Lloyd, the commanding officer of JARIC (the Joint Aerial Reconnaissance Intelligence Centre) at Brampton
         in England; and to David Humphrey, curator of the Museum of Photography at RAF Cosford. Above all, my gratitude to my wife,
         Robin d’Arcy, whose exhaustive researches in many public archives unearthed a great deal of fresh information.
      

      
      Cotton’s own book, published in 1969, seems to lead to a series of dead ends. Names of the rich and famous are sprinkled like
         glitter dust as if to impress; many of them may well have been friends who subsequently deserted him when the going got tough.
         Cotton glosses over the more controversial aspects of his career and passes effortlessly from one chapter to the next, pausing
         only to vilify the bureaucrats and career officers who stood in his way.
      

      
      I was also intrigued to know more about Herr Schoene and Herr Traeder, the two German pilots who, according to Sidney, served
         on the staff of Hermann Goering. Despite exhaustive research, it was not possible to trace either—although there is a record
         of a Herr Traeger of Goering’s staff. In his dealings with the Nazis, was Sidney Cotton dealing with men with assumed names?
      

      
      

      
      After I made a documentary film about Sidney, a number of people contacted me to say that I had only told half the story.
         I am also aware that a number of people I interviewed sought to protect his reputation.
      

      
      Even now, it is clear that there may be a lot more to say.

      
      Jeffrey Watson

   
      
      
      Introduction

      
      

      
      I left it rather late in the day to write a book about Sidney Cotton. After all he had been dead for thirty years and the trail
         was cold. Most of the people who knew him during the early days were dead and gone.
      

      
      I first heard about him in 1980, not in his native Australia but in Newfoundland.

      
      Cotton spent most of his life overseas, in Europe, in North America and in the Middle East and his adventures were rarely
         reported. And because of the secret nature of his wartime work, he preferred to be behind the camera rather than in front
         of it.
      

      
      My enquiries took me to the librarian at the Royal Aeronautical Society in London.

      
      ‘How may I help you?’ he enquired.

      
      ‘I want to know everything about a man called Frederick Sidney Cotton.’

      
      ‘Oh,’ said the librarian, with a sharp inrush of breath, ‘he caused a lot of trouble over here you know.’

      
      

      
      That was an example of English understatement at its best.

      
      The search to find more took me to a great many places. It took me down a road through a pine forest in Germany to the house
         of Hitler’s deputy Hermann Goering. It took me to a dusty archive in Canberra Australia and a colour picture of a woman he
         called Mata Hari.
      

      
      It took me to the top of a hill on the island of Kauai in Hawaii to meet his mistress. It took me on a long drive along the
         shores of Lake Ontario to drink gin with an old lady who could imitate the cry of the loon.
      

      
      Australians love taking the British down a peg. When I made a film about Sidney Cotton many people wanted to believe that
         Sidney was a rough colonial who had bested the effete and class-conscious English. It is a nice idea, but it is wrong.
      

      
      Sidney neither looked nor sounded like an Australian and, despite what some academics have said, he was certainly no rough
         diamond. He was debonair, quietly spoken and articulate—what the French call soigné. More significantly, he could play the
         British at their own game and win.
      

      
      By the time I started writing this book, the cars and yachts and private planes had all gone. The bureaucrats and politicians
         and military men he either befriended or offended were all dead.
      

      
      All that remained was a photograph of a tall rather bland man in a suit.

      
      The most memorable thing about the picture was the barely perceptible smile that played around the lips. Like the smile on
         the Cheshire cat, it was there long after he was gone.
      

   
      
      
      Chapter 1
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      Spy in the Sky

      
      

      
      The aeroplane is painted a pale blue-green. Against the sky over north Germany it can hardly be seen. At the controls is a
         middle-aged man with eyes the colour of cornflowers. He flies the Lockheed like he is caressing it, the fingers of his left
         hand resting lightly on the oval control column, his right hand occasionally touching the two throttle levers.
      

      
      In the co-pilot’s seat is another man, his head bent low over an aviator’s chart. The map is a quilt of coloured squares and
         rectangles. It is the purple patches they are interested in—for these are the forbidden no-fly zones, containing sensitive
         military installations that would be of interest to a foreign power. The sensitive areas are those of the Greater German Reich.
         The foreign power is Great Britain.
      

      
      Behind them in the passenger cabin of the aeroplane five of the six seats have been removed to make way for extra fuel tanks—big
         grey metal boxes. There is only one passenger seat and a pretty girl in a pink angora sweater occupies it.
      

      
      

      
      The hairs on the sweater normally stand out in a fuzzy ball making her look plumper than she really is, but at this altitude—14
         000 feet—the drop in pressure causes them to lie flat like cat’s fur.
      

      
      From time to time she sniffs from a tube attached to an oxygen bottle. But the girl has a job to do. She lies on her stomach,
         her face close to the lurching metal cabin and busies herself with a large camera, its lens facing downwards, mounted in a
         hole in the floor. It is noisy in the back of the aircraft but she seems not to notice. Her jawline is set and she is preoccupied
         with the task in hand.
      

      
      The man with the silver hair turns round from his seat in the cockpit and shouts above the booming engines.

      
      ‘Over target now. Start the cameras.’

      
      She crouches low to the floor and cocks and fires the cameras.

      
      Three miles below in the dockyards of the German navy, a welder pulls off his mask and wipes the sweat from his brow. High
         above him he hears the drone of an aeroplane, but even on this bright clear day he cannot see it. Its undersides have been
         painted the same colour as the sky, so to all intents and purposes it is invisible.
      

      
      He loses interest and returns to his work, unaware of the fact that he has just had his photograph taken from 14 000 feet.

      
      In the sunroom of her house in Perth, Ontario, Joan Henry Cotton Hopkinson wishes to talk about her first husband, Sidney,
         the businessman.
      

      
      Her home is the ground floor of a three-storey sandstone house in Gore Street West, almost in the centre of town. She is sitting in a wheelchair on the deck which overlooks the car park of St Paul’s Uniting church next door. A pink plastic
         band straddles her head holding hearing aids in both ears. She is ninety-four but it is easy to see that Joan Henry, as she
         was when Sidney met her, was a great beauty.
      

      
      I have flown halfway across the world to see her. As it happens this will be the last interview she will give.

      
      A sigh. Was it from Joan or from the railway track at the end of the garden? It is from both. A freight train hoots mournfully
         as it clatters over the tracks on its way to Ottawa. She summons lunch: ‘Mr Watson has come a long way and would like to eat.’
         It is not yet twelve.
      

      
      From the depths of the house emerges Heather, a cheerful vague woman in her forties who offers boiled ham, potato and sweet
         corn served on white plates. Coffee is brought and Heather retreats below stairs although one gets the impression she is not
         far away.
      

      
      ‘Oh Sid, dear Sid,’ Joan says, and begins.

      
      A month before the outbreak of World War II, a luxurious private aeroplane landed at an aerodrome in Frankfurt, Germany. Stepping
         down from the door at the rear of the aircraft was a tall wolfish man with flowing white hair and blue eyes. A grey double-breasted
         suit and heavy spectacles completed the picture. The urbane British businessman.
      

      
      The aeroplane bore a civilian registration and stood out among the rows of more mundane private aircraft. Moreover, it was
         painted a pale blue-green, a curious colour scheme at a time when most private planes were silver. Only the most observant
         would have noticed that when airborne the Lockheed appeared to disappear without trace into the sky. Taking off into the gloaming or into the light of early dawn the
         aircraft was invisible.
      

      
      The man in the suit was Frederick Sidney Cotton. He was forty-five years old, the son of a prosperous grazier from Queensland
         Australia. Cotton had left his native land after World War I, hardly ever to return. He had flown as a pilot in the Great
         War and had then set up a number of business ventures in Canada. None of them had been especially successful, but Cotton had
         acquired a reputation as a focused and driven individual, an adventurer and a buccaneer, a man to whom officialdom and red
         tape were anathema.
      

      
      A group of Luftwaffe officers in their grey dress uniforms gathered around Cotton and der Kolossal Lockheed. Cotton noticed the yellow collar tabs denoting they were aircrew and black armbands bearing the names of their
         Geschwader or squadrons.
      

      
      The Lockheed was a modern airliner, fast and sleek and made of metal at a time when many aeroplanes were still covered in
         doped fabric. It was state of the art in 1939; there was a murmur of approval from the fliers. It was almost as good as the
         new breed of Luftwaffe aircraft on display, the Heinkels and Messerschmitts. Mr Cotton must be a rich man indeed to afford
         such an expensive toy.
      

      
      Mr Cotton was occasionally a rich man. Like all entrepreneurs his fortunes expanded and contracted like the bellows of a concertina.
         He made and lost huge sums of money.
      

      
      The truth was that the pale blue-green aeroplane was not really his. It had been paid for jointly by the Secret Intelligence
         Service of the British government and the French Deuxième Bureau, the money laundered through a private company, the Aeronautical Research and Sales Corporation with offices
         in Piccadilly. Chairman Sidney Cotton.
      

      
      Although at first glance the Lockheed might appear to be a gentleman’s luxury carriage it was a spy plane which was in Germany
         with one express purpose—to photograph from the air the military secrets of the Third Reich. If the Luftwaffe officers had
         examined the aircraft more closely they would have been shocked to discover that it carried hidden cameras in the wings. Embarrassingly
         they were German cameras, the best in the world—Leicas. And the reason it was painted an eggshell blue-green was so it could
         not be seen against the sky.
      

      
      Sidney Cotton was a man of many talents. He was an experienced pilot with a combat record in World War I. He was an inventor
         who knew about machines, metals and engines. He was a pioneer of colour photography. But perhaps his greatest talent was his
         single-minded determination to do things his way, even if it meant treading on a lot of toes. He was known as a charming and
         generous man and commanded enormous loyalty among the people who worked for him. But to some members of the British establishment,
         he was a colonial upstart.
      

   
      

      
      Chapter 2

      [image: Image]

      A Hidden Vale

      
      Motorists who venture south of Brisbane on the Cunningham Highway might find themselves in an outer suburb with the splendid
         name of Grandchester. Despite being named after Rupert Brooke’s famous poem, this is nothing like rural England. Flat farming
         land gives way to a long straight road flanked by eucalypts, which climbs steadily uphill to the entrance to the old Hidden
         Vale homestead, with its paved drive and Moreton Bay fig trees.
      

      
      Here in 1900 came Alfred Cotton, Sidney’s father, an imposing man with a moustache worn thick and long in the style of Lord
         Kitchener. Alfred J. Cotton had made his money further north and had bought this property from an Ipswich butcher, Philip
         Jost. In 1908 he replaced the Jost home with a splendid two-storey house with wide verandahs. In 1911 he sold it to return
         to England to educate his children, but bought it back again in 1914 for £27 500. The four Cotton children adored the freedom and mystery of Hidden Vale and this was where
         Sidney Cotton spent some of his happiest days.
      

      
      ‘I shall never forget the magnificent view as we emerged from the trees into open country approaching the property,’ he wrote.
         ‘We had driven about four miles from the railway station by buggy when we suddenly found ourselves on the top of a hill looking
         down across a valley.’
      

      
      Cotton had been born on a cattle station at Goorganga near Proserpine. He was six when the family moved to Hidden Vale. Sidney
         loved riding and working the cattle, and was fascinated by the new machines that were being invented, like motor cars and
         aeroplanes.
      

      
      When Sidney Cotton was born, Queen Victoria was still on the throne and the sun had yet to set on the British Empire. During
         his lifetime Cotton was to see the introduction of electricity and the telephone, of radio, television, nuclear energy and
         space flight. A high point of his own life was a bringing together of two of the most important developments of the twentieth
         century—photography and the aeroplane.
      

      
      Sidney Cotton had an insatiable appetite for new technology. How he applied that technology became one long adventure that
         took him to most countries of the world.
      

      
      Not much of Sidney Cotton survives in Australia, unlike some pioneer fliers. In Melbourne there is an aerodrome named after
         the great Harry Hawker. In Bundaberg there is a plaque to Bert Hinkler. Sydney’s international airport is named after Sir
         Charles Kingsford Smith. But the only memorial to Sidney is a metal plate in a cemetery in a place called Tallegalla.
      

      
      

      
      Sidney Cotton exchanged the featureless Queensland bush for an office in Piccadilly and a brown pinstripe suit. He could have
         stayed in Australia and played the gentleman farmer. Instead he went to Europe and America and acquired a circle of friends
         that included royalty, heads of state, and shadowy figures from the world of espionage. It was all a wonderful game.
      

      
      Who was Sidney Cotton? A great aviator or a confidence trickster? A brilliant innovator or a self-seeking social climber?
         A patriot or a war profiteer? Or all of the above?
      

      
      Sidney’s father, Alfred John Cotton, was one of Queensland’s pioneering pastoralists and could trace his ancestry back before
         the Norman Conquest. A. J. Cotton, according to one account, was one of the pioneers who blazed their tracks through the state
         of Queensland when it was ‘a wild and dangerous land inhabited only by treacherous blacks’.
      

      
      Alfred Cotton was born in St Helier in the Channel Islands on 21 June 1861 and went to school in Brighton and at the Taplow
         Grammar School in Bristol. He was the only son of Charles Nelson Cotton, a London merchant. An uncle, Sir Richmond Cotton,
         was Lord Mayor of London in 1875. The library of an ancestor, Sir Robert Bruce Cotton, was one of three collections which
         started the British Museum Library and is known as the Cottonian Library.
      

      
      Orphaned at fourteen, after his father had lost his money in South Africa, Alfred Cotton went to sea and served his indentures
         on the barque Edeline, a coal ship on the China run. It was a tough life for a boy in his early teens. The cabin he shared with a shipmate measured
         only six feet six inches square. Later he served on the barque Clara, which carried large numbers of immigrants between England and Queensland.
      

      
      

      
      In 1879 while the ship was in Hong Kong he completed his indentures and was promoted to third mate. With five hundred Chinese
         coolies on board the Clara set sail for Antigua in the Caribbean. The coolies mutinied but somehow Alfred Cotton regained control and the ship reached
         its destination. Alfred Cotton spent six years at sea before settling in Australia. He arrived in Australia when he was twenty
         years old and worked as a jackeroo at Yaleroi station in New South Wales.
      

      
      He soon developed a flair for handling horses and cattle and travelled all over Queensland droving cattle from one station
         to another. He arrived one day at Bromby Park near Bowen and met Annie Bode. Annie Bode was one of four daughters of Frederick
         Bode, a family with a German name and Teutonic roots. Cotton was not the only settler with aristocratic roots who farmed in
         Proserpine. Three other families were listed in Burke’s Peerage.

      
      Alfred Cotton had financed some of his early property deals by rounding up brumbies and selling them to the British Army for
         service in the Boer War. He got eight pounds a piece for the horses. After the war was over he exported the horses from South
         Africa and resold them for four pounds a piece.
      

      
      Alfred Cotton was a man ‘of frugal temperament’ and saved enough money to buy Goorganga station in 1894, the same year that
         Sidney was born. Goorganga is Aboriginal for ‘home of the waters and of the crocodile’.
      

      
      Six years later he sold Goorganga to the Lascelles family and bought, successively, Hidden Vale Grandchester (later the family
         home), Inkerman, Lawn Hill, Bohemia Downs, Springfield, Brunette Downs and Canobie near Normanton in North Queensland.
      

      
      

      
      Alfred Cotton bought and sold stations and won and lost fortunes. He was an expert in the cattle market.

      
      At one time he had 53 000 cattle on the road. He tells the story in his book With the Big Herds in Australia. Another time he took five contracts simultaneously to deliver 7600 cattle from North Queensland to New South Wales.
      

      
      Like many pioneer pastoralists A. J. had good years and lean years and his life was a constant struggle against drought. In
         1914 at the Sydney Agricultural Show he had met another pioneer pastoralist the Honourable James White of Muswell-brook in
         New South Wales. The Whites had acquired the enormous Brunette Downs station in the Northern Territory but it was not a success.
         They asked Cotton if he wanted to go into the venture on a 50:50 basis. Cotton agreed but had to sell all his other properties
         to buy into Brunette Downs and this weakened him. When the stock market crash came in 1929 he had nothing to fall back on.
         It had all gone. He lost millions. It was a pattern that was to be repeated with his eldest son.
      

      
      Sidney Cotton was born into this old money in 1894, the third of the five Cotton children. Alfred and Annie Cotton’s first
         child was a daughter, Lilian, born in Proserpine in 1891; she died in early childhood. Vera arrived next, followed by Sidney,
         Victor and Douglas.
      

      
      Today floatplanes and helicopters full of tourists fly over Goorganga on their way to the islands of the Great Barrier Reef.
         Down the road is Airlie Beach, a steadily growing tourist destination with its bars and backpacker hostels. Significantly,
         it is the aeroplane which has brought this part of Queensland just a few hours from the major capital cities.
      

      
      

      
      But in 1894 there were no aeroplanes or cars. A journey to Goorganga was by horse-drawn coach or steamer. Goorganga was just
         a speck on the map at the edge of a vast dry continent. It was more than five hundred miles to Brisbane, a journey that by
         road would take five days. The little settlements clung to the coastline, their only lifeline the steamer. The ocean looked
         placid enough but the estuaries were full of crocodiles and the dry inland teemed with snakes.
      

      
      Sidney’s earliest childhood memories were of Goorganga. The house was a Queenslander, a large wooden mansion with wide airy
         verandahs. It was here that baby Sidney would crawl around on his hands and knees playing with his toddler brother Victor.
         One day they put their hands through a hole in the edge of the verandah and found some fluffy white balls. ‘They were great
         to play with,’ wrote Sidney ‘and we always put them back in the hole after the game.’ The fluffy balls were the eggs of a
         tiger snake, one of the most dangerous of the twenty-eight varieties of poisonous serpents in Australia. Later Annie Bode
         drew her infant sons away with a shudder. The tiger snake had been crawling along the verandah and Victor had been crawling
         after it.
      

      
      It is not certain when Sidney Cotton saw his first aeroplane. The Wright Brothers had made their historic flight at Kittyhawk
         in 1903 and Louis Blériot had flown the English Channel in 1909, but Australia was largely isolated from the mainstream of
         aeronautical research. Even by 1910 there were few aeroplanes in Australia.
      

      
      Five months after Sidney Cotton was born in 1894, an Englishman called Lawrence Hargrave had successfully lifted himself into
         the air in a kite at Stanwell Park in New South Wales. Hargrave is acknowledged as one of the pioneers of flight. He had the machine but not the means to lift it into the
         air. Unlike the Wrights he failed to develop a successful engine to power his machine. Years later, however, the design of
         aeroplanes in Europe was dominated by Hargrave’s box kites.
      

      
      When he was nine or ten, Sidney sketched a design for his own aeroplane which looked surprisingly like the Caudron Type A
         of 1911. It was a twin boom biplane powered somewhat optimistically by a twenty horsepower motor. The rudder, curiously, was
         suspended between the struts of the underslung fuselage rather than above it, and carried Sidney’s initials S. C. It was surprisingly
         advanced for a country boy still at primary school.
      

      
      In 1904 when Sidney was ten he was sent to Southport Grammar School on the Gold Coast about seventy-five miles from Hidden
         Vale. Today its glorious white beaches are swarming with tourists but in those days Southport was a sleepy hollow. The journey
         from here to Hidden Vale would take the best part of a day so Sidney became a boarder. Six years as a boarder bred in Sidney
         a self-confidence and independence that was to serve him well in later years. But although Sidney was popular at school he
         had few close friends and developed a reputation as a loner.
      

      
      In 1910 Alfred Cotton decided to put all four children through their final schooling in England. The family sailed to England
         and checked into Berners Hotel just off Oxford Street in central London. Aviation was the talk of the town. All London was
         agog with talk of the Frenchman Louis Blériot who had flown the English Channel in an aeroplane of his own design a few months
         earlier. Most people were more interested in the personal details—the fact that he had broken both ankles in a previous crash and had roped his crutches
         to the fuselage.
      

      
      The French seemed to be doing it better than the English. However, if you were interested in aeroplanes in England in 1910,
         there was only one place to be: Brooklands. This famous aerodrome was not only the cradle of flying but of motor racing. Flying
         machines were built in the big black sheds and flown from the field at the centre of the famous banked racing track. Men in
         goggles drove around the perimeter in cars with names like Napier, Bentley and de Lage. All the great aviation names were
         here too—T. O. M. Sopwith, Alliot Verdon-Roe (Avro), and Harry Hawker, Cotton’s fellow countryman.
      

      
      Sidney wasted no time in cultivating the doorman at the hotel who told him how to find his way to Brooklands aerodrome—in
         those days a formidable journey from central London. Brooklands was near Weybridge in Surrey, about two hours by road. But
         Sidney did not have a car, although he harboured a desire to build one.
      

      
      ‘I was much too shy to do more than help push the machines out of their sheds and watch them trying to take off but I became
         thoroughly obsessed with aeroplanes.’
      

      
      His father meanwhile had rented Warthill Castle near Aberdeen. This was a property of some twelve hundred acres owned by the
         Patrick Leslie family, who also had properties in Australia.
      

      
      Business was booming. In October 1910 Alfred Cotton was rich enough to place an order with Chivas Bros of Aberdeen, spirit
         merchant, for two ten gallon drums of Chivas Regal whisky. Chivas Bros wrote to him: ‘We beg to acknowledge return of deposits on the empties; two 2 gallon jars 3s 6d, one 1 gallon jar, which is placed to your credit.’
      

      
      Aviation was as much a novelty in Scotland as it was in England but the opportunities to see aeroplanes in flight were fewer.
         Cotton senior had heard that there was a flying meeting at Lanark but this was a long way from Aberdeen. He grudgingly decided
         to treat the three boys to an outing. Sidney was thrilled to discover that the aviators included two of the most famous pioneers,
         Colonel Samuel Franklin Cody and Henri Farman. Cody came straight out of the Wild West. Born in Texas the flamboyant Cody
         was a crack shot and expert horseman as well as an aviator. In 1908 he had made the first sustained powered flight in Great
         Britain. Farman and Cody were on a tour of Britain to popularise flying.
      

      
      ‘Colonel Cody was the hero of the meeting, and headlines in the local paper reported that he had got up into the clouds,’
         wrote Sidney. Henri Farman the Frenchman, however, could not get very much lift and his aircraft crashed into the top of a
         tall tree. ‘There he stayed until someone got a ladder and fetched him down.’
      

      
      Sidney, Victor and Douglas were boarded at Cheltenham College in Gloucestershire and Vera went to school at the exclusive
         Wickham Abbey. During the two years that Cotton spent at Cheltenham he devoted much of his spare time to building model aeroplanes.
         With the help of the carpenter from the school carpentry shop he built a six foot model of bamboo and linen powered by a small
         single cylinder petrol engine.
      

      
      The model was ready to fly in time for the summer holidays and after a few short test flights on the school cricket field Sidney packed it up carefully and sent it up to Aberdeen. Tragically the beautiful model was lost on its first flight.
      

      
      ‘I set the rudder so that the plane would fly in a wide circle. It took off beautifully but instead of going into a turn it
         flew on and on and was soon lost from view.’ Sidney thought that the plane had ended up in the branches of one of the many
         fir trees on the estate. ‘I was inconsolable. I had lost the toy on which I had lavished six months of my school life.’
      

      
      At the end of 1911, Alfred Cotton returned to Australia. The four children remained behind at school in England. Sidney hated
         the long winters and chafed at the strict discipline of an English private school. He missed his father very much and pined
         for the freedom of Hidden Vale. ‘We could not adjust ourselves more than temporarily to what we felt was the restricted life
         in England’ wrote Sid. All four children petitioned their father to return to Australia and in 1912 he agreed.
      

      
      That strange machine, the motor car, was starting to appear on the streets of Australia, and Alfred Cotton was not slow to
         realise its potential. He needed a tough utilitarian vehicle which could handle the bad roads on his vast properties. But
         there was nothing available in the fifth continent.
      

      
      While he was in England Alfred Cotton had investigated all the motor companies to find someone who would build him a car suitable
         for the bush. He decided to build his own.
      

      
      Alfred Cotton’s car was the Land Rover of its day. An old Sunbeam was the prototype with many of the parts supplied by the
         Dennis brothers. It stood fifteen inches above the ground, high enough to ford the erratic creeks of Far North Queensland.
         There was a winch on the front so it could pull itself out of trouble. The radiator could be swung sideways so that grass seeds could be picked out of the core.
      

      
      Sidney, too, was to build his own car. In 1914 his father sent him off to Cassilis near Dalkeith in New South Wales to work
         for Frederick McMaster, a family friend. McMaster allowed him to use the equipment in the workshop and he ordered the parts
         to build a cycle car. This was a basic vehicle, registered as a motor cycle in some countries, and powered by a single cylinder
         engine. But, rudimentary though the car was, it had some revolutionary features.
      

      
      Sidney drove the car back from Cassilis to Brisbane for his holidays. In the absence of a driver’s seat he used a soap box.
         ‘My father was not at all pleased when he realised how I had been spending my time at Cassilis. It was our first real clash
         of wills,’ wrote Sidney. ‘There were many more to come.’
      

      
      But Alfred Cotton had to grudgingly admit that Sidney was showing aptitude as an engineer. The car was sent off to the Willys
         Overland agent in Brisbane to have a streamlined body fitted. Sidney was not to know it at this stage in his life but he would
         go on to own a number of most exotic motor cars—a crimson Hotchkiss, an ERA racing car and a beige drophead Rolls Royce. But
         all this was to come.
      

   
      

      
      Chapter 3
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      Unsuitable for Employment

      
      On 4 August 1914 Sidney Cotton’s life was to change forever. On that day Britain declared war on Germany, and Australia, being
         a dominion of the Empire, followed suit. At last here was an opportunity to get into uniform and, more importantly, learn
         to fly an aeroplane. Australia had no air force, but in Britain both the Royal Flying Corps and the newly formed Royal Naval
         Air Service were looking for pilots. Sidney asked his father if he could go off to war. The answer was no. Alfred Cotton believed
         the war would last only a few months. In fact it was to last for four years and cost ten million lives.
      

      
      In April 1915 Sidney and his father drove the car which bore both their names on the twelve hundred mile drive to Brunette
         Downs station. On the way there they stopped in a small country town and Sidney bought a newspaper. The paper was a week old
         but it told of the sinking of the Lusitania by a German submarine.
      

      
      ‘The news so incensed me that I told my father I was determined to go to England when I got back.’ Sidney was close to twenty-one. His father and mother could not stop him. ‘My mother drew me aside and told me that she wouldn’t stand in my
         way,’ said Sidney.
      

      
      Reluctantly, Alfred Cotton booked Sidney a passage to England on the Maloja. On board the P&O liner he met other young Australians who had volunteered for duty and were ready to die for their king.
         The early mood of elation soon evaporated, and they whiled away the time during the long sea voyage by learning Morse code
         and signalling. Sidney liked the sea almost as much as he liked aeroplanes and was a competent yachtsman. This fact was not
         lost on the ship’s officers who advised him to join the newly formed Royal Naval Air Service rather than the Royal Flying
         Corps.
      

      
      These were interesting times for naval aviation. Three years earlier Commander Charles Sampson had made the first flights
         from the deck of the HMS Hibernia. By the end of World War I the Royal Navy would have the first real aircraft carrier, the Argus. There were ways, reasoned Sidney, of combining his two passions, flying and the sea.
      

      
      A few weeks after the Maloja docked in Southampton, Sidney Cotton was standing on a freezing flying field at Chingford in Essex. He was now Flight Sublieutenant
         Cotton. On the left sleeve of his uniform appeared the insignia of an eagle, its wings outstretched and its head inclined
         to the right. The Royal Naval Air Service (RNAS), Britain’s newest military force, was barely twelve months old.
      

      
      His flying instructor was a man called Warren Merriam whose somewhat eccentric behaviour was the result of a serious accident
         which had affected his sight and, it was said, his mind. Sidney Cotton’s first flight was to be a case of the partially sighted leading the blind. Also, unlike most pilots, Sidney went solo on his first flight. Merriam was under the
         impression that Sidney had some flying experience. In fact he had barely looked inside the cockpit of an aeroplane much less
         flown one.
      

      
      Novice pilots were trained by doing hops. A number of spark plugs were removed from the engine to reduce its power. Then the
         students taxied about on the airfield and by fully opening the throttle were able to lift themselves into the air a few feet
         before settling the aircraft onto the ground. It was considered a safe way of training without exposing the students to too
         much danger.
      

      
      By today’s standards Sidney’s aeroplane was a hideous thing. The Maurice Farman Longhorn took its name from the the two wooden
         outriggers which jutted out in front of the aircraft to stop it turning over in the event of a bad landing. The pilot sat
         ahead of the wing in a plywood nacelle shaped like a bathtub and the student sat behind him. A huge mahogany propeller rotated
         between the spindly twin booms of the uncovered fuselage. There were no dual controls. Once the aircraft was in the air, Sidney
         leaned over Merriam’s shoulder and grasped the handlebar controls.
      

      
      A cold wind blew across the airfield and Sidney Cotton’s teeth chattered in his head. Below the wings the small green fields
         looked too close for comfort. Sid was terrified.
      

      
      Merriam flew Sidney around the airfield a few times, then showed him how to line the aircraft up over a tree to land just
         inside the aerodrome. He taxied the clattering Farman to a stop and strode off to eat. After lunch, it would be Sidney’s turn.
         Normally, novice pilots would have made at least a dozen or so hops before flying solo. Sidney was to make his first flight—and possibly his last one—without any flying experience
         at all.
      

      
      ‘I knew that if I tried to go solo now I should almost certainly break my neck,’ he wrote. Playing for time, he asked the
         mechanics to change the plugs and replace a few rusty bracing wires. Sidney had no appetite for lunch. When he came out of
         the mess, Merriam was sitting in the bathtub cockpit running up the big eight cylinder Renault engine. Sidney offered up a
         silent prayer that Merriam had forgotten all about him. But it was not to be. The instructor had simply been warming up the
         engine.
      

      
      The reluctant aviator climbed into the pilot’s seat and Merriam leaned over the side to strap him in. The Farman would do
         about sixty-eight miles per hour flat out. It would unstick from the ground at forty miles an hour. Merriam disappeared over
         the side of the cockpit and walked round to the rear to swing the propellor. Pointing the aircraft into the wind Sidney opened
         the throttle and charged across the airfield.
      

      
      The Longhorn was unusual in that the elevator was in front of the pilot instead of behind him. As the aircraft gathered speed
         it wobbled uncontrollably. Sidney did everything wrong. Pilots were supposed to have a light touch on the controls. Instead
         he grasped the strange handlebar stick as if his life depended upon it.
      

      
      The hedge which bordered the field was getting uncomfortably close. Cotton froze and awaited the inevitable impact. Instead,
         nothing happened. Scarcely daring to look down he realised that he had cleared the hedge by a few feet. Being so tense he had slid to the back of the seat and in doing so pulled back on the controls. It was enough to get this
         collection of wires and sticks off the ground.
      

      
      For the first time in his life Sidney Cotton was at the controls of a flying machine that was heavier than air. Not bad considering
         the only other aeroplanes he had ever flown were models. Once Sidney was in the air he started to gain confidence. At three
         hundred feet he pushed the stick forward and the Farman nosed over, diving towards the hangars. He pulled it out of the dive
         at fifty feet. He decided not to stray too far from the aerodrome and to try a few gentle turns.
      

      
      To receive his pilot’s ticket Sidney had to prove that he could take off, climb, control the aircraft, make figures of eight
         and land safely. The bracing wires sang as did Sidney’s heart. Now all that remained was to demonstrate the figures of eight.
         Sidney banked the Farman steeply and using the forward mounted elevator now as a rudder slewed the aircraft from side to side
         in what pilots somewhat indelicately referred to as a split arse turn. By now a small knot of students was watching him from
         the ground.
      

      
      The terror had evaporated into euphoria but Sidney was becoming overconfident. It was time to set the machine down. He was
         too high over the tree and opened the throttle to go round again. Finally on his second attempt he made a perfect landing
         in the centre of the circle.
      

      
      The big mahogany propeller swung to a stop. Half deafened by the noise of the engine Sidney swung his leg over the side of
         the cockpit and dropped to the ground. Merriam grasped his hand and offered his congratulations. If he had realised that Cotton had no previous flying experience he was not about to let on.
      

      
      The incident, said Cotton later, taught him how far it was possible to go on sheer bluff. In later years it would be something
         he would use to his advantage.
      

      
      Early in 1916 Sidney was posted to the Central Flying School at Upavon in Wiltshire. Upavon, in the middle of Salisbury Plain,
         was the cradle of military aviation in Britain and an attractive posting after the dullness of Chingford. It was surrounded
         by pretty villages and rolling plains. Here Sidney learned to fly the BE 2c, a slightly more advanced machine which was armed
         with a rearward facing Lewis gun and could carry bombs under the wings.
      

      
      After he had five hours solo flying in his log book Sidney was posted to the BE 2c flight at Dover. Here he was to try another
         new aeroplane, a French designed Breguet. The Breguet was a handful to fly because it had an all flying tail … in other words
         there was no fixed part to the elevator. This meant that movements of the stick had to be very small to stop the aircraft
         oscillating up and down. Sidney found that by clenching the stick tightly between his knees he could get the aircraft off
         the ground but that was only the start of his troubles.
      

      
      The engine of the Breguet was notoriously unreliable. Sidney was barely airborne when it started missing and he made a forced
         landing in a field so that he could clear the carburettor. He was to make several more unscheduled stops before he finally
         coaxed the aircraft back to Dover.
      

      
      ‘Where the devil have you been with my aeroplane, Cotton?’ asked the squadron commander. But Cotton had impressed the officer with his airmanship. Shortly afterwards he was to graduate to No. 5 Wing of the RNAS, flying the dreadful
         and cumbersome Breguets.
      

      
      Sidney had been in England for ten months. Finally he was going to war! His chances of survival were not good but considerably
         better than those fighting in the mud of Flanders. By now he was based at Couderquerque near Dunkirk and flew on several bombing
         missions against docks and airfields near Ostend.
      

      
      On 25 July Cotton requested permission to return to No. 5 Wing based in France. A few days later he was on patrol in the Breguet
         over the English Channel when he saw a large ocean liner stopped in mid ocean. As he watched he saw the waterspout of an explosion
         alongside the ship. Shortly afterwards it started to sink. Sidney realised with sudden shock that it was the Maloja, the very liner which had brought him from Australia to England.
      

      
      From his aerial vantage point he watched in horror as people jumped over the sides. More than a hundred were drowned, many
         of whom, like Sidney, were Australians who had volunteered to join up. ‘It made me determined to get into the fighting,’ he
         said.
      

      
      The opportunity would not be long in coming. A few days later Sidney was on patrol near Dunkirk when he saw little black clouds
         forming up beneath his wings. ‘I had never seen clouds form so quickly before, nor had I seen them form such strange shapes.
         Then one appeared suddenly very close to me and in the centre was a purple flash which was followed by the sound of an explosion.’
      

      
      Flight Sublieutenant Cotton was being shot at!

      
      

      
      Sidney pushed the stick forward and hedge hopped the Breguet all the way back to Dunkirk. The aircraft had not been hit but
         his nerves were shattered.
      

      
      The Germans were becoming more bold and were bombing targets in broad daylight. On the afternoon of 19 March 1916 a mixed
         formation of Friederichshafen, Hansa-Brandenburg, and Gotha bombers crossed the English Channel to bomb the coastal towns
         of Dover, Deal and Ramsgate.
      

      
      The Gotha was a large plywood aeroplane which could mount no less than four defensive guns including one that covered its
         blind spot below and to the rear. It was the product of the Gotha Wagon Works which previously had not made aeroplanes but
         rolling stock for the railways. For an aircraft of its day it was unusually well defended with guns in the nose, belly and
         amidships. Sidney and his observer Reg Soar were outclassed.
      

      
      Five minutes after 2 p.m., Sidney’s Breguet lumbered into the air, Sidney flying the aircraft from the rear cockpit, his mane
         of dark hair perilously close to the underside of the torpedo-shaped fuel tank. As the big Gotha headed back across the Channel
         they gave chase but it was to no avail.
      

      
      There was one other momentous episode in Sidney’s life at the time. He was to invent a flying suit that bore his name—the
         Sidcot. In some ways it looks like a scuba diver’s dry suit and it could be used anywhere to protect the wearer from cold
         and wet. It was a simple garment and it was strange that no one had thought of it before. In 1916 enclosed cockpits were unheard
         of and most pilots sat exposed to the icy slipstream. Aircraft engines sprayed castor oil over their pilots and required constant
         attention.
      

      
      

      
      Cotton had been flying bombing missions into Germany based at an airfield called Ochey near Nancy. He had always preferred
         to personally supervise the maintenance of his aircraft. The winter of 1916 was bitterly cold. One day he had been tuning
         the engine, wearing only his old blue overalls, which quickly became smeared with oil and grease. The squadron received word
         that enemy aircraft were approaching. Cotton did not have time to get into his flying suit, and took off in his greasy overalls.
         Curiously, when they landed back at the airfield, the rest of the squadron were frozen stiff but Cotton was quite warm. ‘I
         concluded that my overalls, which were thick with oil and grease, must have acted as an airtight bag and kept the body heat
         in,’ he said.
      

      
      On his next leave in London Cotton called on the outfitters, Robinson and Cleaver, with the design for a flying suit. A lining
         of thin fur, a layer of airproof silk and an outside layer of waterproof cotton. There were deep pockets below the knees and
         the neck, and the cuffs were lined with fur to keep the warm air from escaping. The Sidcot became de rigueur with bomber pilots who flew longer, higher and colder missions. Thousands were sold to the Royal Flying Corps and the Royal
         Naval Air Service but Cotton never made a cent out of his invention. The popular story is that Baron Manfred Von Richthofen,
         the famous Red Baron, was wearing a Sidcot suit on his last mission. Had he successfully patented it the suit could have made
         Sidney a tidy sum. But his father, the redoubtable A. J., had drilled it into his children that they were never to be war
         profiteers.
      

      
      When he recovered from his illness Sid requested to be transferred to the newly formed No. 3 Naval Squadron this time based at Luxueil les Bains about fifty miles from the German and Swiss borders. The pilots were almost all Canadians
         and included the flying ace Raymond Collishaw from British Columbia who distinguished himself in both world wars. Sidney enjoyed
         the company of the easy going Canucks and felt at home with them. He did not feel so favourably inclined to some of the British
         officers.
      

      
      No. 3 Wing was to make eighteen raids over Germany in the nine months between July 1916 and April the following year. By now
         Sidney was flying the more advanced Sopwith One and Half strutter which came in both fighter and bomber versions.
      

      
      In 1916 dropping bombs from an aeroplane was a gift rather than a science. There was no way of accurately aiming the bombs
         and it would be years before they were carried internally. They were instead strung on the outside of the fuselage in a device
         which looked like a pipe rack. The noses of the bombs hung downwards and the stems protruded up through the holes. A pin was
         stuck through each stem which rested across the hole. There was a piece of string attached to it.
      

      
      To launch the weapon you pulled the string. The fuses were always armed so if a bomb vibrated out of its rack while the aircraft
         was sitting on the ground the results could be catastrophic. Only later did bombs have to fall some distance to release the
         firing pin by the revolution of a vane in the tail.
      

      
      Armed with this formidable armament, Sidney sallied forth to go spikebozzling the Germans. To spikebozzle was a verb coined
         by another pioneer flyer, and it meant to thwart and ultimately destroy. As it happened, Sidney’s bombs very nearly destroyed
         him.
      

      
      

      
      Fifty aircraft from the wing attacked the Mauser gun factory in Stuttgart. It was a long journey, deep into Germany and meant
         crossing the Vosges mountains which were nearly five thousand feet high in places. Sidney’s engine was faltering and he found
         that he had to fly between the peaks rather than over the top of them. The little machine cleared the lofty Ballon de Guebwiller,
         but was perilously close to the dense pine forest.
      

      
      As he cleared the mountains, guns opened up on him. The engine was still faltering so the only sensible thing to do was to
         turn back. It was just as well. A few seconds later the engine sputtered to a halt and Sidney put down in a field. The bombs,
         attached to their bits of string and wire were still on board. Terrified, he undid his straps and threw himself over the side
         of the aircraft. In thirty seconds, he had placed a good distance between himself and the aircraft but miraculously the bombs
         did not explode. The raid was a disaster. Fifty planes had taken part but only thirteen were to return. Most of the crews
         were taken prisoner.
      

      
      But on a later raid Sidney was lucky to avoid being captured himself. The Saar Valley was the industrial heartland of Alsace-Lorraine
         which was to be the subject of a tug of war between Germany and France in two world wars. Sidney’s squadron had been told
         to attack an industrial town called Thionville, but the weather was bad and the formation got lost in the fog. He found himself
         flying alone and decided to drop his bombs on a factory and head for home.
      

      
      The fog got worse until Sidney was flying close to the tree tops. He kept on flying south and finally found himself over what
         he thought was a friendly airfield. Sideslipping the frail craft onto the grass he landed and taxied towards a couple of parked aircraft. As he got closer to them he saw that the tails
         bore not the red, white and blue roundel of the Royal Naval Air Service but the Iron Cross of the Imperial German Air Force.
         Sidney had landed behind enemy lines! Whether the Germans were on their guard or not they seemed not to notice. Sidney gunned
         the throttle and took off again finally landing on an airfield fifty miles south of his home base, Ochey.
      

      
      Sidney was young and fit and like other pilots enjoyed the privileges of being an officer, albeit a junior one. The pilots
         ate good Alsace food; cabbage hotpots, liver and dumplings, and pike braised in champagne. They drank the local Alsatian wines
         and when they could afford it imbibed the insidiously attractive framboise, a brandy made from raspberries. Sidney said: ‘If you have to fight a war you might as well fight it in France.’
      

      
      But a gentleman’s war? Not really. It was a romantic notion falling out of the sky in a machine built of rag, wires and tubing.
         When you hit the ground you were just as dead as those in the trenches.
      

      
      When the pilots returned from their missions they went to the bar and Sidney usually joined them. But Sidney did not drink;
         he did not like it. He would be generous in buying a round of drinks and would sit all night with one glass of wine hoping
         that no one would notice he had not touched it. His fellow officers respected Cotton as a fine pilot, but they were aware
         he was no drinker. Surreptitiously he could be seen watering the aspidistra. ‘Someone has to keep a clear head in this business,’
         he said, when offered another glass.
      

      
      But not to drink was not to be like other pilots so Sid carried a small pewter hip flask from which he would occasionally take a swig. It was full of a brown liquid which could be
         mistaken for brandy but was in fact cold tea. ‘Looks the same,’ he said, ‘and tastes just as good.’
      

      
      Sidney’s hip flask travelled with him in the pocket of his Sidcot suit. It had a bullet mark on it. Whether or not it saved
         his life is hard to say, but he never went anywhere without it.
      

      
      The ceaseless raids were starting to take a physical toll on Sidney. His eyesight had never been very good; he had worn glasses
         ever since his teens. Now his ears were to give him trouble.
      

      
      Sidney was fortunate in that he was to fly both bombers and fighters. Moving to No. 8 Naval Fighter Squadron at Couderquerque
         again, he transferred to the brilliant new fighter, the Sopwith Pup. This had been developed by the designer Herbert Smith
         from a personal aircraft flown by Sopwith’s chief test pilot, the Australian Harry Hawker. The Pup was armed with a single
         .303 Vickers gun firing through the propeller. It was highly manoeuvrable and Sidney found it a delight to fly. He did not
         have to wait long to test the aircraft in combat. For some weeks the airfield had been attacked at dusk and dawn by a lone
         German bomber, a Taube.
      

      
      ‘I got very tired of this so I decided to intercept him,’ said Sidney.

      
      To get in a position to attack the German he needed height so he decided to take the Pup high above the German and lie in
         wait. The little Pup took the best part of an hour to climb to 18 000 feet. Sidney’s breathing became laboured and his fingernails
         turned blue. He thought that by taking it slowly like a mountain climber he would get used to the thin air but it was hard going. Today pilots would be breathing bottled oxygen from 14 000 feet.
      

      
      Sidney saw the German aircraft beneath him and pulled the Pup over into a dive. Almost immediately he passed out. When he
         came to, the aircraft was spinning rapidly and he was only 3000 feet from the ground. He kicked the rudder bar and banged
         the stick hard over to the left. After what seemed an eternity the nose of the little aeroplane came up and Sidney could see
         the horizon. He was shaking with a combination of cold and terror, blood was pouring from his nose and ears, and the whites
         of his eyes were crimson with broken blood vessels. One of his ears hurt like hell. The Sopwith was a fine aircraft but it
         was vicious in the spin and unforgiving to novices.
      

      
      The medical officer later confirmed that Sidney had perforated an eardrum and ordered him back to England. There would be
         no flying for a while, so Sidney was delegated to prepare a large Handley Page O/400 bomber for a secret mission to the island
         of Lemnos in the Aegean. This was a long way to go for an aeroplane so the element of surprise was vital.
      

      
      The mission was a success. The big bomber covered the distance in fifty-five flying hours and bombed the city of Constantinople
         (Istanbul) and two German warships. Sidney was flattered to learn that the crew had worn his Sidcot suits for the mission,
         but that they had complained that in the scorching heat of a Greek spring, they had sweated gallons! From Hendon, Sidney was posted again, this time to Great Yarmouth in East Anglia and asked to form a special unit. Its task—to
         bomb Berlin.
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